SID J. WHIT/É DEC 1992 OPREME COURT **Chief Deputy Clerk** 

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D. and ENT HEALTH AND SURGICAL CENTER BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D., P.A.,

Defendants/Petitioners,

vs.

BYRON NORSWORTHY, a minor, by and through his parents and next friends, STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, and STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, individually,

ORIGINAL

Plaintiffs/Respondents.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 80,061 [FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CASE NO. 91-01367]



ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has accepted conflict jurisdiction over this case based on conflicts with the decisions of this court in <u>University</u> <u>of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991) and <u>Barron v.</u> <u>Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990) and the decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, 593 So.2d 249 (Fla.2d DCA 1992), question certified on motion for reh., 17 F.L.W. 433 (Fla.2d DCA Jan. 31, 1992), and <u>Goodlet v. Steckler</u>, 586 So.2d 74 (Fla.2d DCA 1991).

## THE PARTIES

This brief is filed on behalf of the Defendants/Petitioners, BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D. and ENT HEALTH AND SURGICAL CENTER BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D., P.A. These Petitioners will collectively be referred to herein as "Dr. Kronman". The Plaintiffs/Respondents are BYRON NORSWORTHY, a minor, by and through his parents and next friends, STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, and STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, individually. The Respondents will be referred to collectively as "the Norsworthys" or as Plaintiffs. BYRON NORSWORTHY, a minor, will sometimes hereinafter be referred to individually as "Byron".

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioners are before this Court because the Court has accepted conflict jurisdiction over this case from the Fifth District Court of Appeal because it conflicts with this Court's decisions in <u>University of Miami v. Boqorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991) and <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990) and decisions of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Tanner v.</u> <u>Hartoq</u>, 593 So.2d 249 (Fla.2d DCA 1992), question certified on Motion for Reh., 17 F.L.W. 433 (Fla.2d DCA Jan. 31, 1992), and <u>Goodlet v. Steckler</u>, 586 So.2d 74 (Fla.2d DCA 1991).

This is an appeal from a final order of the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversing a summary final judgment in favor of the Petitioners upon the grounds that the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice case had expired prior to the filing of Respondents' complaint.

On June 29, 1989, the Respondents, BYRON NORSWORTHY, a minor, and his parents, STEVE and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, filed a medical malpractice action against Petitioners, alleging that Petitioners had negligently injured Byron during his treatment at Holmes Regional Medical Center, Inc. in March of 1985 by excessively intubating and extubating Byron with an inappropriate sized endotracheal tube. The Respondents alleged that they discovered their causes of action more than two years but less than four years from the date of Petitioners' treatment of Byron. The Petitioners filed an Answer generally denying the allegations and affirmatively

alleging that the Respondents' cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations.

The trial court granted a Motion for Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioners holding that there was no genuine issue of material fact that Respondents knew of Byron's injury more than two years prior to the commencement of their lawsuit. The Respondents appealed. The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order reasoning that it could not, as a matter of law, say that when Respondents learned of their son's subglottic stenosis, i.e., injury, they were placed on notice of an incident giving rise to medical malpractice. Rehearing was denied on May 19, 1992, and Petitioners' Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on June 18, 1992. This Court entered an order accepting jurisdiction of this matter on November 13, 1992. References to the Record below shall be noted by the letter "R" and the page number from the Record.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Byron was admitted by his pediatrician, Dr. Sharad Vyas, for observation to Holmes Regional Medical Center in Melbourne, Florida, on March 15, 1985. According to Dr. Vyas's admission notes and deposition, Byron had developed a slight cold which turned into a croupy cough and was admitted for observation (R.623, 642). Byron seemed to improve over the next couple of days (R.643-644). However, on the morning of March 18, 1985, his condition worsened and his pediatrician admitted him to the intensive care unit of the hospital at approximately 10:00 A.M. (R.645-647). At approximately 7:00 P.M. on March 18, Dr. Kronman, an ear, nose and throat specialist ("ENT"), was summoned for consult (R.652, 735-737).

Because of Byron's visible breathing difficulties, an emergency intubation was performed by Dr. Currie, an anesthesiologist on staff at the hospital. After the intubation, Byron's condition stabilized and noticeable improvement was observed over the next couple of days (R.715-720, 741-744).

Since Byron's condition remained stable and his airway appeared clear, it was determined that the tube should be removed in order to see if Byron could breathe safely on his own. Extubation was performed by Dr. Kronman on March 20, 1985. Dr. Kronman observed Byron for a few minutes after completion of the extubation procedure, and Byron appeared to be stable and doing well. However, after Dr. Kronman left, Byron's condition worsened

in the recovery room and a subsequent emergency oral tracheal intubation was performed in the recovery room by an anesthesiologist on call. Shortly thereafter Byron was taken to the operating room, where the oral tracheal tube was replaced by Dr. Kronman with a nasotracheal tube. (R. 744-748).

On March 22, 1985, after consultation with the Norsworthys; Dr. Vyas, the pediatrician; Dr. Currie, the anesthesiologist, and Dr. Kronman, it was determined that Byron's tube should again be removed to see if he would be able to breathe on his own without the tube. A third extubation<sup>1</sup> was performed on March 22, 1985, and after approximately 45 minutes of observation, it was determined that Byron was still unable to breathe on his own as he continued to have difficulty breathing without the tube. Accordingly, Dr. Blunk, an anesthesiologist on staff at the hospital, reintubated<sup>2</sup> Byron. Shortly thereafter, a tracheotomy was performed by Dr. Kronman (R.754-764, 878-889, 654).

Byron was discharged from the hospital with his tracheotomy tube in place on March 28, 1985 (R.624-625, 656). Byron's pediatrician noted in his discharge summary that there was a strong

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>According to Dr. Kronman's deposition, he usually requires an intubation on patients in the pediatric age group prior to performing a tracheotomy because it makes the tracheotomy procedure easier.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>According to Dr. Kronman, in his deposition, it had been previously agreed in consultation with the Norsworthys, Dr. Vyas, Dr. Currie and Dr. Kronman, that should Byron not be able to breathe safely on his own after this intubation, that a tracheotomy would be performed.

possibility that Byron had developed a tracheostenosis (narrowing of the airway), i.e., subglottic stenosis (R.624-625, 656-657).

After Byron's discharge from the hospital, his parents transferred his care to Dr. Dickinson, another ENT specialist. Byron was under Dr. Dickinson's care from April 18 through July of 1985 (R.275, 398-399, 804, 824, 841). According to Dr. Dickinson's deposition and office medical records, the Norsworthys were advised by Dr. Dickinson on their first visit that Byron had been intubated in a life-threatening situation which may, unfortunately, have resulted in subglottic stenosis (R.626, 831-834, 842-843).

During the period that Dr. Dickinson was responsible for Byron's care, Byron was readmitted to the hospital on two occasions, April 23, 1985, and May 28, 1985 (R.846, 849) for additional procedures. Dr. Dickinson expressly noted in her hospital admission summary on April 24, 1985, and office notes of May 28, 1985, the presence of subglottic stenosis (R.626-627, 839-840, 849, 857).

Very early on, the Norsworthys began questioning the care that had been rendered by Dr. Kronman in March, 1985. Dr. Dickinson testified in her deposition as follows:

> "... I do remember from the moment that I met them until Byron transferred his care out of state that there have always been questions by both Mr. and Mrs. Norsworthy about the quality of Byron's care prior to seeing me and whether or not Dr. Kronman had handled his care well and was trained to handle his care well." (R.818).

The Norsworthys continued to question Dr. Dickinson on numerous occasions thereafter concerning the quality of Dr.

Kronman's care of Byron. There was no question in Dr. Dickinson's mind that the Norsworthys believed that there had been a problem with the care rendered by Dr. Kronman:

> "When patients walk in your office on every visit and ask you, did Dr. Kronman do something wrong, I think that's pretty straight-forward that they are concerned about the care given. I don't believe that there was a single office visit when that question wasn't raised." (R.819).

Dr. Dickinson testified in her deposition that she had advised the Respondents that Byron's injury to the subglottic area may very well have resulted from some instrumentation during the time that he was under the care of Dr. Kronman and that in her opinion some mechanical trauma had occurred (R.831-832, 834-837). In her office medical notes she reported that:

"The parents appeared to understand the natural progression of subglottic edema and possible stenosis, they understood that he was intubated in a life-threatening situation which may, unfortunately have resulted in subglottic stenosis ..." (R.626, 839, 844).

On the other hand, Mrs. Norsworthy testified in her deposition that Dr. Dickinson told them there was no deviation from the norm in Dr. Kronman's care. Similarly, Mr. Norsworthy testified that Dr. Dickinson had expressed the view that Dr. Kronman's care had been competent and professional. The Norsworthys did acknowledge, however, that Dr. Dickinson had expressed her disapproval of repeated intubations and explained to them the pros and cons of intubations and tracheostomies. (R.291-294, 341-342, 393-394 and 396).

In July, 1985, the Norsworthys relocated to Pennsylvania, and

Byron was placed under the care of Dr. Tucker, a Philadelphia pediatric otolaryngologist. Mrs. Norsworthy, in her deposition, recalls that Dr. Tucker advised her early on that Byron's subglottis could have been mechanically injured by insertion of the tubes (R.295, 305-306). When the Respondents transferred to Pennsylvania, they took with them a complete copy of Byron's medical records which Mrs. Norsworthy acknowledged reading in 1985 Byron underwent various procedures under Dr. (R.266, 375). Tucker's care to alleviate the effects of subglottic stenosis and to attempt to safely and permanently remove the tracheotomy tube (R.408, 479). Dr. Tucker testified that the Norsworthys had always seemed upset about the outcome of their son's illness but that it was not until early 1989, that Mr. Norsworthy asked him to review the records of the original hospitalization and evaluate the medical care Byron had received (R.473, 475, 477, 479, 484). Dr. Tucker further testified that he advised the Respondents that in his opinion, Byron's subglottic stenosis was an injury caused by inappropriate negligently administered intubations.<sup>3</sup> On June 28, 1989, more than four years after Dr. Kronman last saw Byron, the Norsworthys filed suit against Petitioners.

It was based upon the facts stated above that the trial court ruled as a matter of law that there was no genuine issue of material fact that the Norsworthys knew, or, with the exercise of due diligence, should have known of Byron's injury more than two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>On March 13, 1989, almost four years after Dr. Kronman's care and treatment, the Respondents petitioned to extend the statute of limitations.

years prior to the commencement of their action against the Petitioners and, therefore, correctly granted Petitioners' motion for summary judgment.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

This Court in the recent decisions of Barron v. Shapiro, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990), and University of Miami v. Bogorff, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991), reaffirmed the standard mandated in Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), that the statute of limitations begins to run when the Plaintiffs knew or should have known that either injury or negligence had occurred. In reaffirming this principle in <u>Barron</u> and <u>Bogorff</u>, this Court expressly rejected the proposition that the statute of limitations does not commence to run in a medical malpractice action until the plaintiff actually becomes aware of the negligence of the This Court in Barron and Bogorff went healthcare providers. further and affirmatively established the standard which is to be applied by lower tribunals in determining the point at which the statute of limitations is triggered in medical malpractice actions. This Court in both Barron and Bogorff, in reaffirming Nardone, expressly held, again, that the statute of limitations in a medical malpractice action commences when a plaintiff has actual or constructive knowledge of either the injury or the negligent act.

In the instant case, however, the Fifth District has imposed upon the standard clearly established in <u>Nardone</u>, <u>Bogorff</u> and <u>Barron</u>, the additional requirement that in order to trigger the statute of limitations, the injury must, in some fashion, communicate the possibility of medical negligence. This is the

same standard which was rejected by this Court in <u>Barron</u> and <u>Bogorff</u>. This hybrid standard, imposed by the Fifth District in the instant case, directly conflicts with existing case law and creates obvious ambiguities as to the appropriate standard to be applied.

In less than two years after this Court's clear mandate reaffirming <u>Nardone</u>, the Fifth District appears to be fashioning a different standard, which for all intents and purposes has the effect of overruling the precedent clearly established in <u>Nardone</u>, <u>Barron and Bogorff</u>. In applying a standard which is different from the established rule of law in <u>Nardone</u>, <u>Barron</u> and <u>Bogorff</u>, the Fifth District has exceeded its authority.

Byron Norsworthy was admitted to the hospital for observation because of croup. He was discharged from the hospital with a tracheotomy tube in place on March 28, 1985. Dr. Vyas, Byron's pediatrician, noted in his discharge summary that there was a strong possibility that Byron had "developed" a tracheal stenosis i.e., subglottic stenosis. In mid-April, Byron's parents sought a second opinion and additional post-operative care for Byron from Dr. Dickinson. Dr. Dickinson noted in Byron's medical records in April and May of 1985, the presence of subglottic stenosis. Additionally, Dr. Dickinson, several times in her deposition, testified that the Norsworthys continually questioned her about the quality of care which Byron received from Dr. Kronman.

The mental state of the Norsworthys at the time of Byron's admission and at the time of Byron's discharge are important. As

evidenced by the record, in their minds, Byron's condition upon discharge was dramatically worse than the condition upon admission, which clearly should have put the Norsworthys on notice of an injury, and the possible invasion of their legal rights. This is sufficient in and of itself to start the statute of limitations running as a matter of law. Florida law is clear that actual knowledge of a physical injury, or the failure to exercise due diligence in the discovery that an injury has occurred, alone will trigger the statute of limitations. It is not necessary to have knowledge that the physical injury resulted from a negligent act in order to trigger the statute of limitations. Knowledge of either the injury or the negligence will suffice. In the instant case, not only was the injury discovered by the Norsworthys in 1985, but the alleged negligence was strongly suspected by the Norsworthys as well.

Additionally, Respondents acknowledged in their depositions that they had in their possession a complete copy of Byron's medical records in June of 1985 when they moved to Philadelphia, a copy of which was also provided to Dr. Tucker, Byron's subsequent treating physician and Respondents' expert witness in this action. Respondents now contend that they did not have sufficient notice of the alleged negligence of Dr. Kronman because Dr. Dickinson, who treated Byron from April until July of 1985, refused to criticize Dr. Kronman's care of Byron. However, this does not serve to toll the statute of limitations. It is undisputed that the Norsworthys were aware of Byron's tracheotomy upon his discharge. Likewise, it

cannot be disputed that Byron's medical records which were provided to Dr. Tucker as early as July of 1985, contained the <u>same</u> information used by Dr. Tucker to form his opinion of the alleged negligence of Dr. Kronman in 1989. Knowledge of the contents of accessible medical records is imputed to the Respondents. Accordingly, the opinion regarding Byron's alleged negligent medical care could just as easily have been formed from Byron's medical records four years earlier in 1985.

In a medical malpractice action, the plaintiff may not avoid the obligation imposed upon him by the statute of limitations by remaining ignorant of facts or law which alert him to his cause of action. In the instant case, sufficient facts regarding Byron's injury were available to the Norsworthys in 1985 to alert them of the possible invasion of their legal rights. The statute of limitations is tolled only for those who remain ignorant through no As noted in their own testimony, the fault of their own. Norsworthys are well educated individuals who are sticklers for detail and who were very persistent in their questions regarding their son's injuries. Yet the Respondents chose to sit on their rights and not bring their suit against Dr. Kronman until June of 1989, more than four years after Dr. Kronman last saw Byron In light of these facts, the trial court below Norsworthy. correctly ruled as a matter of law that Respondents' cause of action was time barred.

I. WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD IN HOLDING THAT IF THERE IS NOTHING ABOUT AN INJURY THAT WOULD COMMUNICATE TO A REASONABLE LAY PERSON THAT THE INJURY IS MORE LIKELY A RESULT OF SOME FAILURE OF MEDICAL CARE THAN A NATURAL OCCURRENCE THAT CAN ARISE IN THE ABSENCE OF MEDICAL NEGLIGENCE, THE KNOWLEDGE OF THE INJURY ITSELF DOES NOT NECESSARILY TRIGGER THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

II. WHETHER THE RESPONDENTS KNEW OR WITH THE EXERCISE OF DUE DILIGENCE SHOULD HAVE KNOWN, AS A MATTER OF LAW, OF BYRON NORSWORTHY'S INJURY MORE THAN TWO YEARS PRIOR TO THE COMMENCEMENT OF THEIR ACTION AGAINST THE PETITIONERS.

#### ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT APPLIED I. THE WRONG STANDARD IN HOLDING THAT IF THERE IS NOTHING ABOUT AN INJURY THAT WOULD COMMUNICATE TO A REASONABLE LAY PERSON THAT THE INJURY IS MORE LIKELY A RESULT OF SOME FAILURE OF MEDICAL CARE THAN A NATURAL OCCURRENCE THAT ABSENCE IN THE OF MEDICAL CAN ARISE NEGLIGENCE, THE KNOWLEDGE OF THE INJURY ITSELF DOES NOT NECESSARILY TRIGGER THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

The applicable statute of limitations with regard to this appeal reads, in pertinent part, as follows:

"An action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time the incident giving rise to the action occurred or within two years from the time the incident is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence." (Section 95.11(4)(b), <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1985).

In the seminal case of <u>Nardone v. Reynolds</u>, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976), this Court attempted to clearly define the standard which is to be used in applying the above-referenced statute of limitations. In <u>Nardone</u>, this Court held that the statute begins to run when the plaintiffs knew or should have known that <u>either</u> injury <u>or</u> negligence had occurred. The <u>Nardone</u> rule requires knowledge of <u>only one</u> of two critical factors, <u>injury or negligence</u>, to trigger the commencement of the statute of limitations. It does <u>not</u> require knowledge of both. The recent decisions of this Court in <u>Barron v. Shapiro</u>, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990) and <u>University of Miami v. Bogorff</u>, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991), reaffirmed the principle clearly established in <u>Nardone</u> that the statute begins to run when the plaintiffs knew or should have known that <u>either</u> injury <u>or</u> negligence has occurred. In establishing this standard,

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