DAJ

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 80,061

FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 2 1993
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
By—Chief Deputy Clerk

BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D. and ENT HEALTH AND SURGICAL CENTER BARRY S. KRONMAN, M.D., P.A.,

Petitioners,

vs.

BYRON NORSWORTHY, a minor, by and through his parents and next friends, STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, and STEVE NORSWORTHY and LINNEA NORSWORTHY, individually,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WAGNER, CUNNINGHAM, VAUGHAN & McLAUGHLIN, P.A.
708 Jackson Street
Tampa, Fla. 33602
-andPODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG,
EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A.

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

negligence cases, there are no fixed rules for what is and what is not "reasonable care" -- or its twin sister, "due diligence." Determinations of whether a party has exercised "reasonable care" or "due diligence" under all the circumstances belong to the "conscience of the community" impaneled to make that determination, according to prevailing community standards -- not to the court to determine as a matter of law. See, e. g., Orlando Executive Park, Inc. v. Robbins, 433 So.2d 491 (Fla. 1983). And with those general introductory observations behind us, we turn to the specifics.

B. The trial court's misapplication of Barron v. Shapiro.

1. A short and simple demonstration of the trial court's error.

The defendants' position below was that the Norwsorthys were on notice of the "incident" out of which their causes of action arose shortly after Byron's discharge from the hospital in March, 1985, because they knew of his "injury"; that, as a result of this notice, the statute of limitations began to run at that time as a matter of law; and that it was simply irrelevant that they had no notice of Dr. Kronman's negligence, or notice of any causal relationship between that negligence and Byron's "injury" until early 1989. This position was bottomed upon the following sentence, which appears in several of the decisions upon which the defendants rely here: "... the statute of limitations in a malpractice suit commences either when the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act." Nardone v. Reynolds, 333 So.2d 25, 32 (Fla. 1976).

² See also English v. Florida State Board of Regents, 403 So.2d 439 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981); Nichols v. Home Depot, Inc., 541 So.2d 639 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); Ten Associates v. McCutchen, 398 So.2d 860 (Fla. 3rd DCA), review denied, 411 So.2d 384 (Fla. 1981); Marks v. Delcastillo, 386 So.2d 1259 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980), review denied, 397 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1981); Holley v. Mt. Zion Terrace Apts., Inc., 382 So.2d 98 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980); Acme Electric, Inc. v. Travis, 218 So.2d 788 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 225 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1969).

We will explore the meaning of this sentence at considerable length in the next subsection of our argument, where we will demonstrate that it means something different than the simplistic meaning attributed to it by the defendants. For our initial purposes here, however, we are content to assume that it means what the defendants say it means -- that the simple discovery of an "injury" is sufficient to start the statute of limitations running as a matter of law -- because the facts in this case do not even support a conclusion that the Norsworthys were initially on notice that Byron suffered an "injury" as a result of Dr. Kronman's treatment.

As we took some pains to point out in our statement of the facts, Byron was admitted to the hospital with subglottic stenosis and he was discharged from the hospital with subglottic stenosis. With the benefit of hindsight (and Dr. Tucker's opinion), of course, it now appears that this condition had one cause upon admission and a different cause upon discharge — but the fact remains that the condition upon discharge was no different than the condition upon admission, and that there was therefore no notice that Byron had suffered a separate "injury" in the hospital. It was not until Dr. Tucker advised the Norsworthys in 1989 that Byron's post-operative subglottic stenosis was actually an injury caused by negligence, rather than merely a continuation of the subglottic stenosis for which he had initially been hospitalized, that the Norsworthys were on notice of Byron's "injury." Suit was timely filed thereafter. See Moore v. Morris, 475 So.2d 666 (Fla. 1985). That, we respectfully submit, is the short and simple answer to the defendants' position — and for this simple reason alone, the district court correctly reversed the summary final judgment at issue here.

2. A more complicated demonstration of the trial court's error.

In any event, even if the defendants are correct that the Norsworthys' knowledge of Byron's post-operative subglottic stenosis was knowledge of an "injury," separate and distinct from his pre-operative diagnosis of subglottic stenosis, the fact remains that the plaintiffs did

exercise "due diligence" to discover any cause of action they may have had by obtaining an expert opinion on the subject from Dr. Dickinson, and they were told that there was no incident of malpractice. That is also all that they knew during the two-year period in which the defendants insist the statute of limitations ran on their claim. Most respectfully, if that constitutes discovery of the "incident" of medical malpractice which is the subject of the plaintiffs' suit as a matter of law, then the court might as well declare that the delayed discovery provision of §95.11(4)(b) simply does not exist.

The defendants have conceded what they must, of course -- that §95.11(4)(b) does contain a delayed discovery provision. They have argued, however, that "discovery" of an "incident" of medical malpractice occurs as a matter of law upon the mere discovery of an "injury in fact" during the course of medical treatment (rather than a "legal injury," and whether the nature of the injury suggests that malpractice may have been its cause or not), and they purport to derive this position from two recent decisions of this Court: Barron v. Shapiro, 565 So.2d 1319 (Fla. 1990), and University of Miami v. Bogorff, 583 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1991). A good deal of our argument here will be devoted to demonstrating that Barron and Bogorff say no such thing.

Before we turn to that demonstration, however, and to be fair to the defendants, we should note that the Second District has rendered a spate of recent decisions in which a majority of the judges considering the issue have read *Barron* and *Bogorff* in that highly restrictive fashion. *See, e. g., Goodlet v. Steckler*, 586 So.2d 74 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991); *Rogers v. Ruiz*, 594 So.2d 756 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991); *Harr v. Hillsborough Community Medical Health Center*, 591 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), *review pending*; *Tanner v. Hartog*, 593 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), *review pending*.

Despite the majorities' conclusions in these cases, the decisions have provoked some highly apologetic opinions and some vigorous dissents -- and at least two certifications to this Court -- so the propriety of the Second District's reading of *Barron* and *Shapiro* is far from

settled there. In Goodlet, for example, the majority confessed its "uncertainty" about the propriety of its reading of Barron and Bogorff. And in Rogers, the panel split three ways. Judge Lehan concluded that, because of Barron and Bogorff, knowledge of a death which occurred during risky heart surgery constituted notice of the "incident" of malpractice as a matter of law -- notwithstanding that death was a statistically predictable consequence of non-negligently performed surgery, and notwithstanding that the surgeon told the survivors that the patient's heart was old and simply gave up. Judge Ryder dissented, reading Barron and Bogorff essentially as we will read them in our argument here. Judge Parker concurred with Judge Lehan's opinion, but not without some rather pointed remarks:

Further, I agree with Judge Lehan that this court's decision in Goodlet and the Supreme Court's decision in Bogorff require that the statute of limitations' clock starts running upon the death of Mr. Rogers. I wish I could agree with Judge Ryder that something more than a death is required to put the plaintiff on notice that the limitations' period had begun to run. Bogorff, however, in my opinion, has slammed that door shut.

It is my belief that Bogorff rips at the very fabric of our society. The message in that case is clear. Once the body is in the ground or once an adverse result occurs from a medical procedure, a grieving family member or dissatisfied patient, in order to protect a possible and unknown right to damages, should retain an attorney immediately and start subpoenaing medical records. This, to me, is a further wedge driven between formerly trusting relationships involving hospitals, doctors, patients, and attorneys. The message is clear. If one thinks anything adverse possibly could have happened to him or her or to a loved one while undergoing medical care, one immediately must demand all medical records and retain an expert to review those records and to advise the patient or family. This appears to be the only prudent way to proceed to avoid the statute of limitations' window closing upon an action for medical malpractice, even when the family or patient has nothing tangible which would indicate to a lay person that malpractice has occurred.

594 So.2d at 772.

In his dissent in Tanner, Judge Patterson voiced a similar concern:

I respectfully dissent. I am disturbed by the trend in this area of the law which creates a fiction that a normal, but unfortunate, incident of proper medical care and treatment in the eyes of a lay person is in fact legal notice of possible malpractice. In my view, the legislature recognized such circumstances when it included the "should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence" language in section 95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1989). A party litigant should be given the opportunity to establish by competent evidence that they fall within circumstances defined by the legislature to protect unwary and uneducated persons from the harsh consequences of their ignorance of the pitfalls of medical treatment.

593 So.2d at 253. And in *Harr*, even the majority concluded that mere knowledge of an "injury in fact," without more, was not sufficient to start the statute of limitations running as a matter of law (where the plaintiff did not learn the identity of the health care provider until later).

In other post-Barron decisions of note, the Third, Fourth, and Fifth Districts have squarely rejected the reading of Barron and Bogorff which is presently fashionable in the Second District. The Fourth District has accepted the argument which we intend to make here, holding as follows:

... On the matter of when they reasonably should have known of the injury caused by negligence, *Moore v. Morris*, 475 So.2d 666, 668 (Fla. 1985), supports the view that knowledge that one suffered injury during or subsequent to an operation, which could be supposed to have arisen out of natural causes, need not constitute notice of negligence or injury caused by negligence.

Southern Neurosurgical Associates, P.A. v. Fine, 591 So.2d 252, 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). Consistent with this holding, the Third District has also recently observed that "a defect at birth does not necessarily put the parents on notice of injury or of possible negligence.

The Fourth District has also held (consistent with what we intend to argue here) that knowledge of an injury constitutes notice of an "incident" of malpractice if the nature of the injury reasonably suggests that negligence was its probable cause. See Vargas v. Glades General Hospital, 566 So.2d 282 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990).

Moore " Menendez v. Public Health Trust of Dade County, 566 So.2d 279, 282 n. 3 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990), approved, 584 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1991). Note that this Court recently approved this decision.

And in the instant case, the Fifth District declined to follow the rigorously literal reading given to *Barron* and *Bogorff* by the Second District, and accepted the argument we intend to make here, holding as follows:

Perhaps we read *Bogorff* and *Barron* too optimistically, but we believe those cases simply stand for the proposition that when the nature of the bodily damage that occurs during medical treatment is such that, in and of itself, it communicates the possibility of medical negligence, then the statute of limitations begins to run. On the other hand, if there is nothing about an injury that would communicate to a reasonable lay person that the injury is more likely a result of some failure of medical care than a natural occurrence that can arise in the absence of medical negligence, the knowledge of the injury itself does not necessarily trigger the running of the statute of limitations.

Norsworthy v. Holmes Regional Medical Center, Inc., 598 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Norsworthy was more recently followed on this point by the Fifth District in Allen v. Orlando Regional Medical Center, 606 So.2d 665 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). In short, the issue presented here is badly in need of clarification by this Court. Hopefully, a detailed review of the decisional law during the 15-year existence of §95.11(4)(b) will aid it in that task -- and it is to that analysis that we now turn.

The defendants' position here depends entirely upon a rigorously literal reading (entirely divorced from the factual contexts in which it has been uttered) of the following sentence in *Nardone v. Reynolds*, 333 So.2d 25, 32 (Fla. 1976), which is repeated in one form or another in both *Barron* and *Bogorff*:

.... This Court has held that the statute of limitations in a malpractice suit commences either when the plaintiff has notice of the negligent act giving rise to the cause of action or when the plaintiff has notice of the physical injury which is the consequence of the negligent act. City of Miami v. Brooks, 70

So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954). . . .

Although this sentence has become the cornerstone for the Second District's recent decisions holding that "injury in fact," by itself and with very little else, is sufficient to start the "should have been discovered" provision of the statute of limitations running as a matter of law, the proposition was actually first uttered in the decisional law of this state in an entirely different context, and for an altogether different purpose -- in *City of Miami v. Brooks*, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), which was cited in support of the proposition in *Nardone*. The purpose of the proposition was simply to incorporate the "blameless ignorance" doctrine into the law of Florida, to govern cases in which a negligent act has caused a "delayed injury" which could not have been discovered within the ordinary statute of limitations period.

The doctrine appears to have its modern origin in *Urie v. Thompson*, 337 U.S. 163, 69 S. Ct. 1018, 93 L. Ed. 1282 (1949). In that case, the plaintiff was exposed to silica dust for approximately 30 years and he ultimately contracted the "occupational disease" of silicosis. He brought an FELA action against his railroad-employer within three years of the date he discovered that he had contracted the disease. The railroad contended that the three-year statute of limitations barred the claim, because the plaintiff obviously had acquired the slowly progressive disease more than three years prior to the time that it ultimately incapacited him. In a passage which has been quoted by courts across the nation numerous times, the Supreme Court sided with the plaintiff:

We do not think the humane legislative plan intended such consequences to attach to blameless ignorance. Nor do we think those consequences can be reconciled with the traditional purposes of statutes of limitations, which conventionally require the assertion of claims within a specified period of time after notice of the invasion of legal rights. The record before us is clear that Urie became too ill to work in May of 1940 and that diagnosis of his condition was accomplished in the following weeks. There is no suggestion that Urie should have known he had silicosis at any earlier date. "It follows that no specific date of contact with the substance can be charged with being the

date of injury, inasmuch as the injurious consequences of the exposure are the product of a period of time rather than a point of time; consequently, the afflicted employee can be held to be 'injured' only when the accumulated effects of the deleterious substance manifest themselves. . . ." [citation omitted]. The quoted language, . . . seems to us applicable in every relevant particular to the construction of the federal statute of limitations with which we are here concerned. Accordingly, we agree with the view expressed by the Missouri Supreme Court on the first appeal of this case, that Urie's claim, if otherwise maintainable, is not barred by the statute of limitations.

337 U.S. at 170-71.

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